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INTRODUCTION


Operation “Dragoon,” the Allied invasion of the South of France, was for a long time overshadowed by Operation “Overlord,” the invasion of Normandy, which preceded Dragoon by over two months. However, in recent years the publication of a number of books has rekindled interest in Dragoon, which in John Keegan’s magisterial history of World War II occupies only a few lines. The genesis and gestation of Dragoon nevertheless throws an intriguing light on Anglo-American relations from the autumn of 1943 to the early summer of 1944, and reveals much about the tensions between the two high commands and their political masters during those critical wartime years.

The British contribution to Dragoon, with the exception of the Royal Navy, the Royal Air Force, and a parachute brigade, was relatively slight. French participation, although vital for both military and diplomatic reasons, often proved problematic in the field, and tested the man-management skills of the American high command almost to destruction. The operation’s ultimate success depended, in the final analysis, on the flexibility of the U.S. Army’s command structure operating in conjunction with its French allies and with the often highly irregular input of British and American special forces—respectively, the Special Operations Executive (SOE) and the Office of Strategic Services (OSS). In a fast-moving campaign, the Allied cause was immeasurably helped by men like the OSS’s Geoffrey Jones and SOE’s Francis Cammaerts, and the remarkable agent Christine Granville. Their part in the Dragoon story, and that of the French Resistance, will receive the attention they merit. As part of this strand, a spotlight will focus on the significant role played in Allied decision-making by the interception and decryption of encoded German Enigma traffic, the so-called “Ultra” secret.

These elements, singly and severally, played a significant part in Operation Dragoon, alongside the key decisions made by Allied commanders like Generals Patch, Truscott, Devers, and Butler, and their subordinates. Generous space is also given to their German counterparts, among them Generals Blaskowitz, Wiese, and Wietersheim, who strove to prevent a serious reverse from descending into a rout during an epic withdrawal from the French Riviera through the eye of a needle at Montélimar and into the Vosges Mountains. The role of the ordinary soldier—from grizzled German veterans of the Eastern Front to Texas farmboys and African Americans following the fighting on burial details—is a constant theme, taking us from the landings on Riviera vacation beaches to the fogbound autumnal clashes in the Vosges Mountains that closed the curtain on Operation Dragoon.

Above all, Dragoon presents a panoramic picture of the military and industrial might, the greater part of it American, which hastened victory in the West: the logistics that lay behind it; the key decisions that secured it; and the personnel who made it happen. In writing this book I owe a great debt of thanks to the eminent historian Steven Zaloga, who supplied the illustrations and much advice, and Stephen Dew, who drew the maps. I would also like to thank another distinguished historian, Simon Dunstan, for his sound counsel throughout the project. Thanks are also due to the 36th Division’s archives in Austin, Texas, which yielded much detail on the course of the campaign from first to last. I am also grateful to Robert Maxham for his invaluable help in the 36th Division archives and to Jean-Loup Gassend for permission to quote material from his his Operation Dragoon, Autopsy of a Battle, The Allied Liberation of the French Riviera, August–September 1944.

—Robin Cross
Broxbourne, 2018






ONE


LOST VICTORIES

“Sir, it is my duty to report that the Tunisian campaign is over. All enemy resistance has ceased. We are the masters of the North African shores.”

—Telegram from General Sir Harold Alexander, commander 18th Army Group, to Winston Churchill, May 13, 1943

The period between November 1942 and August 1943 was, for Adolf Hitler’s Germany, one of almost unmitigated disaster. It began with the Allied victory in North Africa at El Alamein in November 1942, followed five days later by the Anglo-American “Torch” landings in Morocco and Algeria, and continuing with the destruction of the German 6th Army at Stalingrad in February 1943. In May 1943, German and Italian forces in Tunisia surrendered to the Allies, and Admiral Dönitz’s U-boat “wolfpacks” were withdrawn from the North Atlantic after suffering heavy losses. Two months later, in July 1943, the collapse of Operation “Citadel,” the summer offensive in the western Soviet Union by the German Army in the East (Ostheer), and the Allied invasion of Sicily, delivered a double body blow to the Third Reich. And finally, on the night of August 2 the last of four raids by the RAF Bomber Command concluded the Battle of Hamburg, during which, on the night of July 27, 729 bombers created a firestorm that engulfed four square miles of the eastern part of the city, prompting Hitler’s minister of propaganda, Joseph Goebbels, to describe the attack as “a catastrophe, the extent of which staggers the imagination.”

On July 19, 1940, flushed with victory in the Battle of France, Adolf Hitler had convened the Reichstag in the Kroll Opera House in Berlin to witness the creation of twelve field marshals. At the end of a long speech he told the assembled puppet deputies: “In this hour I feel it to be my duty to appeal once more to reason and to common sense in Great Britain, as much as elsewhere. I consider myself in a position to make this appeal since I am not the vanquished begging favors, but the victor speaking out in the name of reason. I see no reason why this war should go on.”

But it did go on, and in time Hitler acquired enemies vastly more powerful than the British. On January 30, 1943, in circumstances very different from those that accompanied his triumphal gesture of July 1940, Hitler created a single new field marshal, promoting Colonel General Friedrich von Paulus, commander of the German 6th Army encircled on the Volga in the Soviet city of Stalingrad.

No German field marshal had ever surrendered. In effect, Hitler had pressed a suicide pistol into Paulus’s unsteady hand. The new field marshal did not pull the trigger. At 0745 on January 31, a young Red Army tank lieutenant, Fyodor Mikhailovich Yelchenko, and fifteen of his men stepped into Paulus’s dank and crowded headquarters in the basement of Stalingrad’s ruined Univermag department store. Two hours later Major General Ivan Laskin, chief of staff to the Soviet 64th Army, arrived to take Paulus’s formal surrender. Fifteen generals went into captivity with him. Two days later the last German troops holding out in the northern part of Stalingrad laid down their arms.

In the Stalingrad pocket the Ostheer lost twenty divisions and over 200,000 men. Of the 108,000 who trudged into captivity, only 5,000 survived the war. Six more divisions—two of them Luftwaffe—had been destroyed outside the Red Army encirclement. Germany’s allies on the Stalingrad front, the Italians, Romanians, and Hungarians, lost four armies, 450,000 men, and any desire they once might have had to play an active role in Hitler’s war against Bolshevism.
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Field Marshal Erich von Manstein, commander of Army Group Don, had failed to relieve Stalingrad but was able to persuade a temporarily unnerved Hitler to allow him to conduct an orderly withdrawal and then launch a successful counterattack (against odds of approximately eight to one) to reestablish a defensive line by March 1943. However, this textbook operation, which demonstrated the Ostheer’s continued tactical superiority in mobile operations, acted merely as the prelude to the debacle at Kursk in the summer of 1943.

Half a world away, in December 1941, in the aftermath of the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the British prime minister Winston Churchill visited Washington for the “Arcadia” conference. There for the first time the British and Americans, both of whom were yet to experience the humbling onslaught of the Japanese in the Far East and the Pacific, met as joint combatants to agree on strategic war aims. For the moment, the two allies met as equal partners. At Arcadia the British and American Chiefs of Staff established a Combined Chiefs of Staff (CCS)* and jointly agreed on a memorandum that set out the principal aims of Allied grand strategy.

These aims included: the support of the war industries in the United States, the United Kingdom, and the Soviet Union, the latter by extending to the Soviets the terms of Lend-Lease; and closing and tightening the ring around Germany by sustaining the Russian front and supporting Turkey. (It was an abiding ambition of Churchill to draw Turkey into the war as an ally or base for operations.) Their aims were also to build up strength in the Middle East and secure the entire coast of North Africa; undermine German morale by air bombardment, blockade, propaganda, and a campaign of subversion in Occupied Europe. (The last was the work of the SOE and later its US equivalent, the OSS; see Chapter 4.) They would develop offensive action against Germany, with the proviso that “it does not seem likely that in 1942 any large-scale offensive against Germany will be possible . . . In 1943 the way may be made clear for a return to the Continent, across the Mediterranean, from Turkey into the Balkans, or by landings in Western Europe.” In the Far East, at this stage in the war it was deemed sufficient to “safeguard vital interests and to deny to Japan access to raw materials vital to her continuous war effort while we are concentrating on the defeat of Germany.”

This last point in the memorandum confirms the decision made by the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff in February 1941, at the Anglo-American ABC-1 conference, nine months before Pearl Harbor, that in the event of the United States becoming involved in a simultaneous war against Germany and Japan, priority should be given to the war against Germany, the so-called “Germany First” policy and the constant background noise to the Allied conferences that followed America’s entry into the war. Inevitably, six months of Allied reverses in the Far East and Pacific, public outrage in America in the wake of Pearl Harbor, and the clear Pacific priorities favored by the U.S. Navy were to place a considerable strain on the “Germany First” policy.

Churchill was understandably buoyed up by the Arcadia agreement. On the outward voyage to America, in the battleship HMS Duke of York, he had ebulliently declared of his new allies, “Previously we were trying to seduce them. Now they are securely in the harem.” He put it more tactfully to King George VI on his return at one of their weekly luncheons: “Britain and America are now married after many months of walking out.” The Americans, however, harbored serious reservations about Arcadia. Their philosophy of war differed radically from that of the British. At this stage in the conflict the American forces were mobilizing and their high command was poorly organized institutionally and lacking in coherence, realism, and effective leadership. Nevertheless, the unerring view of the US high command was that the defeat of Germany could only be achieved by beating its armed forces in the field by large-scale land operations, the application of mass and concentration in the manner of Ulysses S. Grant in the American Civil War. On January 22, 1942, General Dwight D. Eisenhower, then the chief of the U.S. Army Operations and Planning Staff, wrote: “We’ve got to go to Europe and fight—and we’ve got to quit wasting resources all over the world—and still worse—wasting time. If we’re to keep Russia in, save the Middle East, India, and Burma, we’ve got to begin slugging with air at West Europe; to be followed by a land attack as soon as possible.”

The British, however, had been unceremoniously bundled out of Europe at the end of May 1940, and thereafter had been preoccupied with nibbling away at the periphery of the Axis empire, in East and North Africa and Greece. In East Africa, Benito Mussolini’s tawdry new Roman empire had been destroyed. In the Western Desert of North Africa the Italian forces had also been routed, only for the British 8th Army to encounter a more formidable opponent, from February 1941, in Rommel’s Afrika Korps. In Greece the British intervention had been decisively defeated and its expeditionary force had been obliged to repeat the experience of Dunkirk with a double evacuation, first from Greece to the island of Crete and then from Crete to Egypt in May 1941, after a German airborne invasion.

When contemplating the mixed fortunes of the British Army, Churchill reached the gloomy conclusion that, perhaps, the British soldier lacked something of the spirit of his German opposite number. On February 11, 1942, four days before the fall of Singapore to the Japanese, the biggest British military disaster of the war, he told his old friend Violet Bonham Carter that “. . . our soldiers are not as good fighters as their fathers were. In 1915 our men fought on even when they had only one shell left and were under a fierce barrage. Now they cannot resist dive bombers. We have so many in Singapore, so many men—they should have done better.” General Sir Alan Brooke, the chief of the Imperial General Staff (CIGS), was of the same opinion, confiding to his diary three days after the surrender at Singapore, “If the Army cannot fight better than it is doing at present we shall deserve to lose our Empire!”

British caution informed a national reluctance to embark on a fresh and premature adventure in Europe, tempered by memories of the slaughter of the Great War on the Western Front where Churchill had briefly served as a colonel commanding 6th Battalion, Royal Scots Greys in 1915–16, and where Brooke also served as a major in the artillery of 18th Division. It was clear to the British that they could not win the war against Germany without the help of allies who would bear the brunt of much of the land fighting. Meanwhile, they were obliged to maneuver and probe and exploit their superior sea power to wrong-foot the enemy and pull him off balance. Only when the enemy was sufficiently worn down and exhausted could the British turn their attention to major land operations. Brigadier General Albert Wedemeyer, the officer who headed the Policy and Strategy Group of the U.S. War Department General Staff, and who observed Churchill at close quarters, recalled that as early as 1942 the prime minister was “constantly looking for places to employ his limited forces in some wasteful periphery picking that he imagined would weaken the enemy without calling upon Britain to go all out for decisive blow.”

In contrast to the Americans, the British were unwilling to entertain the idea of opening a Second Front, Operation “Sledgehammer,” the invasion of France’s Cherbourg Peninsula, proposed by their US ally to be launched as early as the autumn 1942.† The buildup to Sledgehammer was code-named Operation “Bolero” and the landings Operation “Round-up.” Sledgehammer would commit the whole of the British and American expeditionary forces, not easily replaced if lost, to an assault on the fortified frontier of a continent containing an army of three hundred divisions and a war-making machine of unparalleled effectiveness. British apprehensiveness about Sledgehammer was to cast a cloud over relations with the Americans through the opening months of their alliance.

In early April 1942, General George Catlett Marshall, Chairman of the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, arrived in London to discuss the US military buildup in the United Kingdom, Operation Bolero, and to hammer out with the British a timetable for the opening of the Second Front. Marshall, who believed that the Second Front should be mounted on the shortest route into Germany at the earliest possible date, was a formidable figure who deliberately and successfully unsettled his commander in chief, Franklin Delano Roosevelt, by declining to laugh at any of the president’s jokes and not allowing FDR to address him by his first name. This outstanding soldier and “careful demon of integrity”‡ was equally stern with the British prime minister, remaining resolutely unenthusiastic about Churchill’s urging of an invasion of French North Africa, originally code-named Operation “Gymnast” and subsequently Operation “Torch,” and insisting on and obtaining from the British a commitment to a Second Front in Europe in 1943. General Brooke noted in his diary that while the British Chiefs of Staff had reiterated their reservations about Sledgehammer in 1942, it remained a remote possibility contingent on the unlikely event of a sudden German collapse. However, at this stage in the war they accepted, albeit unwillingly, the likelihood of offensive action on continental Europe in 1943.

Doubt was thrown over this scenario by Eisenhower, who had been dispatched to England in June 1942 as commanding general, European Theater of Operations (ETO). Eisenhower quickly grasped that the time was not ripe for Sledgehammer. The U-boat menace was still at its height; British ground forces were too thinly spread; the Royal Air Force (RAF) was ill equipped to support an amphibious operation; and the Royal Navy, fearful of a foray by the German fleet (Kriegsmarine), was unable to provide sufficient gunfire support for the landings. Moreover, unless all US and British war production was concentrated on Sledgehammer alone, a cross-Channel operation could not be launched until 1944. In addition, Eisenhower detected a distinct reluctance among the British high command, haunted by memories of the Western Front, to contemplate another costly adventure on the continent of Europe.

To this was added a palpable measure of condescension accorded by the British to their American allies. Brigadier General Wedemeyer,§ a highly experienced staff officer and a shrewd observer of Anglo-US relations, noted: “This attitude was a trifle odd, not to say presumptuous, for in 1941 the British themselves had very little experience in offensive strategical maneuver. After all, they had been rapidly driven off the continent in 1940, and from then on they had little opportunity except in the air and on the sea, to gain the experience Sir Alan Brooke talked about. . . . The British Army, aside from the small forces engaged in North Africa, was surely no more combat effective than our own.”

In June 1942, Churchill returned to Washington, where he encouraged Roosevelt’s interest in Torch, arguing that as the US troops gathering in the United Kingdom for Operation Bolero could not be used in 1942 in a cross-Channel operation, they might be gainfully employed in an interim operation in French North Africa (Torch), to precede the invasion of northwest Europe. This would also have the additional advantage of partially satisfying the Soviet leader Joseph Stalin’s persistent demands for the opening of a Second Front. It was during this visit, on June 21, in the middle of a long afternoon conference with President Roosevelt, that Marshall walked into the Oval Office bearing a piece of pink paper containing the message that the Libyan port of Tobruk had fallen to the Afrika Korps. This shattering piece of news, subsequently described by Churchill as “one of the heaviest blows I can recall during the war,” was in part softened by Marshall’s offer of three hundred tanks and one hundred self-propelled guns for the hard-pressed British 8th Army in North Africa.

In July, Marshall was back in Britain, accompanied by Admiral Ernest J. King, the U.S. Navy’s chief of operations, an Anglophobe and single-minded supporter of the primacy of the Pacific strategy. Their visit sparked a heated strategic debate in which the Americans renewed their demands for an opening of a Second Front that year while the British Chiefs of Staff and War Cabinet understandably dug in their heels. An appeal was made to Roosevelt, who normally did not directly concern himself with purely military matters, in which he allowed himself to be guided by Marshall. In this instance, however, Roosevelt took Churchill’s side, having been convinced by the latter’s arguments in the previous June. Help for Churchill came from another unexpected source, Harry Hopkins, Roosevelt’s court favorite and “special envoy” to the United Kingdom.

Hopkins was remarkable man, in fragile health from stomach cancer, with no official position at the White House, who nevertheless played a highly influential role in the war as Roosevelt’s right-hand man. Like Marshall and Wedemeyer, Hopkins had originally harbored doubts about the wholeheartedness of Britain’s grand strategy. In his view, it was based on the overriding importance of maintaining the integrity of the British Empire above all other considerations. However, Hopkins had mellowed under concerted political wooing by Churchill, the Chiefs of Staff, and the War Cabinet. Lobbied by Hopkins and Churchill, Roosevelt decided to present the American Joint Chiefs of Staff with a range of options that excluded a Second Front and among which Torch was the most attractive. Marshall chose Torch, which was enthusiastically endorsed by Roosevelt and launched on November 9, 1942, with landings in Morocco and Algeria.

Churchill had gained a temporary respite but was still flapping on the hook of the British promise of a cross-Channel invasion in 1943. Moreover, his freedom to deploy delaying tactics was being steadily undermined by the fact that the tide of events was turning in the Allies’ favor. In the Soviet Union, Hitler had returned to business left unfinished in front of Moscow in December 1941. Once again the panzers rolled: Army Group A struck through the Donets corridor to Stalingrad, the industrial city on the Volga with which Hitler was soon to develop a fatal obsession, while Army Group C drove through the Soviet Union’s southernmost oilfields at Baku on the Caspian Sea. In the Pacific, however, the Japanese had been checked at the Battle of the Coral Sea (May 4–8), the first large-scale aircraft carrier encounter that was fought without either surface fleet sighting the enemy. At Coral Sea the Japanese sank one of Admiral Frank Fletcher’s two carriers, the USS Lexington, and damaged the other, the USS Yorktown. Believing that both carriers had been sunk, the Japanese fleet pressed on with its plan to capture the island of Midway. The Americans, who had cracked the Japanese naval code, positioned their fleet to defeat the much stronger enemy task force that the Japanese had assembled to take Midway. In the ensuing carrier battle—one of the most decisive of the war—U.S. Navy dive-bombers destroyed four Japanese carriers for the loss of Yorktown and reversed the balance of power in the Pacific. The all-conquering Japanese were now forced to defend a vast ocean empire that might be attacked at any point by the gathering might of the American war machine. The point the Americans chose was the Solomons chain of islands east of New Guinea. On August 7, 1942, U.S. Marines stormed ashore at Guadalcanal, the first move in an epic battle that marked the beginning of the Allied reconquest of the Pacific. In the Battle of the Atlantic the U-boats’ so-called “Happy Time” off the American east coast had been brought to an end. The British 8th Army had held Rommel at the border of Egypt, and Allied victory lay around the corner at El Alamein, followed by the landings in North Africa and the destruction of the German 6th Army at Stalingrad. The strategic initiative was passing to the Allies.

Allied success made it all the more important to secure agreement on common strategy. When in January 1943 Roosevelt and Churchill met at a conference code-named “Symbol” in the Moroccan city of Casablanca on ground recently liberated by General Eisenhower, who had led the Torch landings, the prime minister was keenly aware that the contending arguments among the Americans between the Germany First and Pacific factions were yet to be resolved. The number of troops deployed in the Pacific under General Douglas MacArthur was, at some 350,000, approximately the same as those commanded by Eisenhower in Europe and North Africa.

To clinch the argument with Marshall, Churchill knew that he would have to persuade the U.S. Army chief of staff that a follow-up operation to Torch, preferably the invasion of Sicily, would not disrupt the schedule agreed in the summer of 1942 for the Second Front. For his part, Marshall believed that the American incursion into the Mediterranean had been justified by the clearing of French North Africa, completed in May 1943, and the securing of the Suez Canal, Britain’s imperial artery at the eastern end of the Mediterranean. However, Churchill still harbored grave misgivings about the risks attached to the opening of the Second Front, were it to be launched later in 1943. After eleven days of discussion, agreement at Casablanca was reached and deftly summarized by Air Chief Marshal Sir Charles Portal, the British chief of air staff, who happily enjoyed a constructive relationship with both Churchill and his American opposite numbers.

The most significant result of Symbol was the emergence of the so-called “Mediterranean Strategy.” The successful conclusion of Torch, the clearing of the North African coast, was to be followed by the invasion of Sicily (Operation “Husky”), another peripheral move but vital for Churchill, as its prosecution would rule out the opening of a Second Front in northern Europe until 1944. Marshall acquiesced as the operation posed fewer shipping problems than the alternative targets, Sardinia and Corsica, which were also beyond the range of US fighter aircraft, a fact that had escaped the attention of German military intelligence, which was still second-guessing the next Allied move.

For the Americans, Husky was only one of a number of available options. Nor at this stage did they commit themselves beyond Husky to the invasion of peninsular Italy. Nevertheless, the Sicily decision, having been made, was one the Americans found increasingly difficult to modify. Wedemeyer later reflected on the superior military diplomacy deployed by the British at Casablanca: “They swarmed down upon us like locusts with a plentiful supply of planners and various other assistants with prepared plans to insure [sic] that they not only accomplished their purpose but did so in stride and with fair promise of continuing in their role of directing strategically the course of this war.” Wedemeyer failed to mention that the British had arrived with their own floating communication center, a fully equipped signals ship, which functioned as an extension of the government machine in London.

Symbol yielded a number of important decisions: the acceleration of Bolero; the mounting of a joint bombing offensive against German fighter production (Operation “Pointblank”); and the demand for the “unconditional surrender” of Germany, Italy, and Japan, largely on the insistence of Roosevelt. As far as the Americans were concerned, the Mediterranean remained a secondary theater in which the Allied threat, posed or delivered, would drain German resources away from northwest Europe, where the Anglo-American schwerpunkt (decisive blow) would eventually fall, on the coast of northern France. Nevertheless, in the back of the Americans’ mind was the lingering anxiety that a campaign beyond Sicily, on the Italian peninsula itself, would act as a greater drain on Allied resources than those deployed in the theater by the Germans and could thus derail the plans for the Second Front.

At Casablanca, another new problem arose in the form of dealing with the French now that their colonies in northwest Africa were in the process of being liberated. At the conference there was a great deal of behind-the-scenes maneuvering between Churchill’s protégé, General Charles de Gaulle, who had arrived in England after the fall of France and had assumed command of the Free French movement, and Roosevelt’s candidate, General Giraud, commander of the French 9th Army in 1940, who had been taken prisoner by the Germans and imprisoned in Konigstein Castle. He had escaped in 1942 and had made his way to Algeria to rally opposition to Vichy France and had been adopted by the Americans, who were extremely distrustful of the imperious de Gaulle. However the Americans were discomfited when Giraud appeared to be even more imperious than de Gaulle, and wholly divorced from the world of war and politics as they were in the beginning of 1943. After his five minutes of icy fame alongside de Gaulle, Giraud was unceremoniously shunted into the background and dropped by the Americans. De Gaulle, a great but extremely difficult man, remained a hot potato to be passed back and forth by the Allies for the rest of the war.

The “Trident” conference, held in Washington in May 1943, came in the immediate aftermath of General Alexander’s defeat of the Axis forces in Tunisia. Over 230,000 prisoners, nearly half of them German, had tramped into Allied captivity. Once again Hitler had been unable to liquidate a front and, as result, presided over another Stalingrad on the southern shores of the Mediterranean. The Mediterranean was now for all intents and purposes open, and Italy was teetering on the edge of collapse. The British urged that, following the invasion of Sicily, landings should be made in Calabria in the toe of southern Italy with a view to expanding eastward into the southern Balkans. In the event of a sudden Italian capitulation, Italy should be occupied as far north as Rome, a bridgehead established on the Yugoslavian coast, and the Dodecanese islands lying off the southwest coast of Turkey should be seized and pressure exerted on Turkey to enter the war on the Allied side. In turn this would force the Germans to dispatch more troops either to the Balkans or to Italy, in all likelihood the former, abandoning Italy to the Allies, who could the use its airfields to raid central and southeastern Europe, particularly the Axis’s Romanian oilfields at Ploesti.

It was at Trident that the first formal discussions between the American and British staffs were held about the invasion of southern France. The major topic under discussion was the cross-Channel invasion of northwest France, which was to become Operation Overlord, now envisaged by the Americans for the spring of 1944. Following the successful conclusion of the campaign in Sicily, they planned to begin transferring all their military resources to the United Kingdom to support the cross-Channel invasion. However, this left them with the problem of postponing any engagement on land with the Germans until 1944, a gap of possibly more than nine months. Thus the Joint Chiefs of Staff cast around for other potential targets in the Mediterranean theater that would divert German attention from northern France without impeding the Allied buildup.

Potential target areas included southern Italy, Sardinia, and Corsica, the Balkans, the Iberian peninsula, and southern France. The Americans were reluctant to plunge into the political minefield of the Balkans, were less than eager to launch a drive up peninsular Italy, and saw Spain as a strategic dead end. The last option, the invasion of southern France, was also regarded with some suspicion by the American planners: sufficient forces for its successful accomplishment were not available and the operation would also demand the preliminary occupation of Sardinia and Corsica. Their principal concern was that each of these options ran the risk of developing into a major campaign that would divert resources from the all-important objective of the invasion of northwest Europe.

Now code-named Overlord, the cross-Channel invasion of France was to be reinforced by seven divisions from the Mediterranean theater and launched on May 1, 1944. At meetings in Algiers at the end of May 1943, Churchill weighed into the strategic debate on his return from Trident. The meetings were held at General Eisenhower’s villa and attended by, among others, Eisenhower, Churchill, Generals Brooke and Alexander, Churchill’s chief of staff General Sir Hastings Ismay, the naval commander in the Torch landings Admiral Sir Andrew Cunningham, commander in chief of Mediterranean Air Command Air Chief Marshal Sir Arthur Tedder, General Marshall, and Lieutenant General Walter Bedell Smith, Eisenhower’s highly able chief of staff.

Churchill was always more of an inspired opportunist than a convincing strategist. At Algiers he once more seized the opportunity to take up the cudgels for an attack on mainland Italy. On May 31, the prime minister elaborated on a series of “Background Notes” he had prepared, stating that “. . . compelling or inducing Italy to quit the war is the only objective in the Mediterranean worthy of the famous campaign already begun and adequate to the Allied forces available and already in the Mediterranean basin. For this purpose the taking of Sicily is an indispensable preliminary, and the invasion of mainland Italy and the capture of Rome are the evident steps. In this way the greatest service can be rendered to the Allied cause and the general progress of the war, both here and in the Channel theater [a reference to the cross-Channel invasion].”

General Marshall kept his powder dry, replying that he only wished to emphasize that the Allies should exercise general discretion in choosing what to do after the conquest of Sicily. The outcome of the Algiers meetings was that Eisenhower established two planning groups: one to prepare for an attack on Sardinia and the other for an invasion of southern Italy. Thus when the Allies landed in Sicily on July 10, 1943, nobody had decided what to do next.

However, one man who who had decided to go to peninsular Italy was Adolf Hitler. Since July 5, he had been following from his East Prussian headquarters the progress of Operation Citadel, the attempt by the Ostheer to punch out the huge fist-shaped salient in the heart of the Ukraine, jutting into the German line, at the center of which was the city of Kursk. The buildup for Citadel, aimed at clawing back the initiative after the surrender of the 6th Army at Stalingrad, had taken three months. The Red Army, reorganized and reequipped after the disasters of 1941–42, was well informed of German intentions and, under the overall direction of Marshal Georgy Zhukov, Stalin’s deputy commissar for defense, had prepared to defend the salient’s shoulders in massive strength and depth. A week after the German offensive had opened, on July 12, the Red Army launched a counteroffensive in the Orel salient immediately to the north of the Kursk bulge.

On July 13, as the German advance was being slowed to a crawl, Field Marshals Kluge and Manstein, respectively commanders of the northern and southern pincers of Citadel, were summoned to Hitler’s headquarters, the Wolfsschanze (“Wolf’s Lair”) near Rastenburg in the gloomy, mosquito-ridden Gorlitz Forest in East Prussia. According to Manstein’s subsequent account, Hitler “opened the conference by announcing that the Western Allies had landed in Sicily . . . and the situation there had taken an extremely serious turn. The Italians were not even attempting to fight, and the island was likely to be lost. Since the next step might well be a landing in the Balkans or Lower Italy, it was necessary to form new armies in Italy and the western Balkans. These forces must be found from the Eastern Front, so Citadel would have to be discontinued.”

In fact Citadel was to continue for several more days before it was finally called off. What was undeniable, however, was that the landings in Sicily had ushered in a new phase in the war in which Germany would have to fight on two fronts rather than stand guard over one and fight on the other. Hitler hoped to contain the situation in Sicily while continuing to prepare for the main blow to the west in Northern Europe. His immediate fear was the overthrow of his fellow dictator, the Italian Duce, Benito Mussolini. On July 15, he was informed by General Alfred Jodl, head of operations in all theaters except Russia,¶ that “as far as can be foreseen, Sicily cannot be held.” Hitler deemed that a meeting with Mussolini was essential. On July 19, he flew from East Prussia to meet Mussolini in Feltre, near Belluno, in northern Italy. It was to be the last time he set foot on Italian soil. In sweltering heat the two dictators met in a villa chosen for the occasion. Mussolini, drawn and unwell, a shadow of his former strutting, posturing self, sat silent and listless as Hitler raved uninterrupted for two hours about the Third Reich’s new generation of wonder weapons. The Duce’s entourage looked on helplessly. Mussolini’s silence was in large part due to the fact that he had already been given an ultimatum by his high command to open peace negotiations with the Allies. Hitler doubtless derived some comfort from the sound of his own voice, but on his return to his headquarters in East Prussia he was shown an intelligence report by Heinrich Himmler, his SS chief, that a coup d’état was being planned to replace Mussolini with Marshal Pietro Badoglio, the Duce’s former chief of staff. On July 25 Mussolini was arrested after an audience with the Italian king, Vittorio Emanuele III, bundled into a waiting ambulance, and driven under police guard into house arrest on the Mediterranean island of Ponza. Mussolini was subsequently interned at La Maddelena, off the coast of Sardinia. At the end of August he was moved to a mountain resort high in the Abruzzi in central Italy. On September 12, the fallen dictator was rescued by German parachutists and borne off in a light aircraft to another meeting, in Munich, with Hitler.

The Allied campaign in Sicily was short but hard fought since the island was garrisoned by two highly efficient German formations, the 15th Panzergrenadier Division and the Hermann Goering Division, but it was all over by August 17. By then over 100,000 German and Italian troops had escaped to the Italian mainland. On September 3, a new anti-fascist Italian government signed a secret armistice with the Allies. On the same day the British landed in the toe of Italy.

On both the Axis and Allied sides, there remained uncertainty about the next move. The German high command had not been surprised by the fall of Mussolini and had for the previous two months been making plans to deal with this eventuality. The result was Operation “Achse” (“Axe”) entrusted to Field Marshal Erwin Rommel, commander of Heeresgruppe B (Army Group B) who after his return from North Africa in March 1943 had been made responsible for the defense of northern Italy.# During August, German divisions were quietly transferred to Italy from eastern and northwestern Europe. By September 9, when the Italian government announced its surrender and the U.S. Fifth Army landed in Salerno, some forty miles southeast of Naples, their number had risen to fourteen and a month later had reached twenty-five, sufficient not only to pacify the Italian countryside but also to compel the Allies to fight for every foot of ground in their advance on Rome.

However, Hitler had more wide-ranging concerns. He was confident that, if necessary, the Italian peninsula could be sealed off. Among his principal preoccupations were the mineral resources of the Balkans—oil, copper, bauxite, and chrome—where the Italians had provided the largest single occupation force and which had to be safeguarded if there was a collapse in Italy. Hitler’s high command took a different view, arguing that the deployment of twenty divisions in Yugoslavia, Greece, and the islands of the Aegean was an impossible task, given the pressure that was being exerted on every point on the Third Reich’s perimeter. Acknowledging the truth in Frederick the Great’s dictum that “he who defends everything defends nothing,” General Jodl suggested a shortening of the line in the Mediterranean and the abandoning of the Italian peninsula south of the readily defensible mountain line between Pisa and Rimini at the top of the Italian boot. In Greece and the Aegean, nothing should be held south of the line running east and west through Salonika, positions that in World War I the Central Powers had defended with great success.

Hitler was more inclined to listen to a dissenting voice, that of Field Marshal Albert Kesselring, commander of Heeresgruppe C (Army Group C), the German forces in southern Italy. Kesselring, an immensely able professional soldier, pointed out that a withdrawal to the Apennines would render the Balkans vulnerable to an Allied thrust across the Adriatic. Kesselring, who had commanded Air Fleet (Luftflotte) 2 in the Battle of Britain, also saw with an airman’s eye that yielding tracts of territory in southeast Italy would gift the Allies with a network of airfields, notably those around Foggia, from which they could deploy bombers over the Balkans and the southern Reich. Thus Italy should be defended as far forward as possible. After a characteristic period of delay, Hitler decided during the first week in November that Italy should be defended south of Rome.

Allied progress up the Italian peninsula was a long, hard slog, made all the more grueling by difficult terrain, missed opportunities, and stiff German resistance in a series of well-fortified positions, notably the Gustav Line running from the mouth of the River Garigliano through Cassino and across the Apennines to a point south of Ortona. Now the Americans found themselves caught on a hook of their own devising. Their commitment to fighting their way up the Italian peninsula had outrun their original plans, although throughout the summer and autumn of 1943 this was the only theater in Western Europe where the Germans could be effectively engaged and in which, by the end of the year, the Allies had achieved their principal objectives. The overall Mediterranean Strategy had been a success. The Mediterranean had been cleared for shipping; nearly fifty German divisions had been sucked into the Italian peninsula and the Balkans; and the important airfields around Foggia were now operating against targets in central and southeastern Europe. Moreover, communications across the Adriatic had been opened and were accelerating the supply of materiel to Marshal Josip Tito’s guerrillas in Yugoslavia.

Nevertheless, by the autumn of 1943, the Americans, while still deeming the Mediterranean a secondary theater, were determined that the agreement reached with the British at Trident, that seven Allied divisions should be drawn from Italy for Operation Overlord, should be honored. In the course of another Allied conference, “Quadrant,” held in Quebec in August 1943, there were acrimonious exchanges between the two allies as the Americans strove to secure an unequivocal commitment from the British to Overlord that would confirm the Mediterranean’s secondary status. In addition they urged a landing in southern France to coincide with Overlord in the north.

This was an idea that had been discussed with the British at Trident, and subsequently at Quadrant, but had now been adopted by the Americans as their own and, in a distant echo of Sledgehammer, been given the code name “Anvil.” At this stage the principal aims of Anvil, now seen by the Americans as a three-division operation, was the capture of the ports of Toulon and Marseille, to divert German troops from northwest France, and to provide vital new ports of entry for the Allies. This was seen as the logical culmination of the Mediterranean Strategy, securing Italy as a base for air operations against central Europe and seaborne operations in support of the campaign in southern France which, in conjunction with the Red Army’s advance on the Eastern Front, would bring a rapid end to the war. The Combined Chiefs of Staff directed Eisenhower to prepare a plan for Anvil, linked to Overlord, by November 1943. However, the directive was vague and made no distinction between the British view that Anvil should be reduced to a diversionary threat and the American support for a three-division operation, which carried the concomitant risk of weakening Overlord.
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At the end of October 1943, Eisenhower submitted his report. By then the Germans were disarming their former Italian allies and had moved twenty-five divisions into the Italian peninsula, while the Allied buildup in the theater was frustratingly slow, creeping toward eighteen divisions. The Allies were facing a stalemate in Italy and there was little hope of reaching Rome before the end of the year. Judging that the Allies would not be able to mount an overland invasion of southern France in the spring of 1944, Eisenhower recommended the seizure of a small bridgehead in the South of France provided that the Germans obligingly abandoned the region to the Allies. Meanwhile the Allies should persevere with the Italian offensive. The British unsurprisingly supported Eisenhower’s conclusions and the linking of Overlord and Anvil was, for the moment, shelved.

Shortly before the next Allied conference, in Tehran in November 1943, British and American officials met in Cairo to map out a coherent set of proposals to present to the Soviet delegation. This preliminary conference was code-named “Sextant.” En route to Cairo, Roosevelt and his staff discussed topics ranging from the postwar occupation of Germany to operations in the Pacific and the possibility of a Balkan campaign in the European Theater of Operations (ETO). It was nevertheless agreed that the overriding importance of Overlord should ensure a cautious approach to any new operations in the Mediterranean.

Churchill was also in Cairo for discussions with Harold Macmillan, the British minister resident in Algiers. Uppermost in the prime minister’s mind was what he saw as the Allies’ lack of focus in the Mediterranean and the Americans’ failure to grasp the theater’s potential, demonstrated in particular by their insistence on withdrawing landing craft and personnel for Overlord. Roosevelt arrived in Cairo on November 22, and two days later Churchill returned to the familiar theme of the Mediterranean. The president had voiced his concern that the development of Overlord could not be sustained while the Allies “kept the Mediterranean ablaze.”

Churchill, in a somber mood, observed that all the achievements made in the Mediterranean might be put at risk if Allied progress in the theater stalled. The islands of Kos and Leros, in the Dodecanese, which had been taken by the British after the Italian surrender, had been reoccupied by the Germans on October 3 and November 12, respectively, after amphibious landings supported by airborne drops. The island of Samos had been evacuated by the British on the night of November 19. Churchill hoped that the recapture of these islands by the Allies might bring Turkey into the war. Hitting his stride, Churchill once again urged a drive up the Italian peninsula to capture Rome. Whoever held Rome, the prime minister declared, held “the title deeds of Italy.” As far as Overlord was concerned, Churchill maintained that his support for the operation was undimmed but warned that “it should not be such a tyrant to rule out every other activity in the Mediterranean . . . a little flexibility in the employment of landing craft ought to be conceded.”

The Tehran conference, code-named “Eureka,” began on November 28, 1943. It marked the first occasion on which Roosevelt met Stalin, whom Churchill had met in Moscow in August 1942. Stalin and Roosevelt had two preliminary meetings without Churchill, which left the prime minister childishly anxious that they were ganging up on him. At the plenary meetings, however, Stalin spoke in favor of the plan for the capture of Toulon and Marseille, which bound Britain into a commitment to Anvil, although Churchill’s support for both Overlord and Anvil was soon to waver, to the alarm of his American ally. Stalin’s enthusiasm for Anvil stemmed from his own military experience with so-called “pincer” operations; his desire to establish the long-delayed Second Front in northwest Europe; and last but not least his keenness to steer the Western Allies away from any involvement in southeastern Europe, particularly the Balkans, which the Soviet leader considered a vital sphere of Russian influence.

Stalin dominated the Tehran conference. He was still basking in the Red Army’s victory at Kursk, which had tripped a series of convulsions on the Eastern Front that in two and a half months had thrown the Ostheer back over 150 miles on a front of 650 miles toward the east bank of the River Dnieper. In contrast, Churchill cut a gloomy figure, now clearly the junior partner in the Allied triumverate, and increasingly troubled with misgivings about the role of the Soviet Union not as a wartime ally but as a potential threat in the postwar world. Nor could the prime minister count on unqualified American support in the wider objectives he envisaged flowing from the Mediterranean Strategy.

Churchill was understandably irked by the Americans’ lack of interest in the eastern Mediterranean. The prime minister’s deep and romantic knowledge of British history was informed by many events in this theater, from Nelson’s victory in the Battle of the Nile, to the deaths of the poets Byron at Missolonghi and Rupert Brooke in a hospital ship off the island of Skyros. On a more urgent contemporary note, the ancient city of Alexandria was the base of the British Mediterranean fleet and departure point for the westbound Malta relief convoys. And the Suez Canal was Britain’s imperial lifeline, briefly threatened by Rommel in the autumn of 1942.

Churchill also fretted about the Balkans. In a somewhat disingenuous letter to Roosevelt written on October 7, 1943, he had pointed out that operations in this theater would have an impact on Greece, Yugoslavia, the long-hoped-for ally Turkey, and Hitler’s increasingly restive allies, Hungary, Bulgaria, and Romania: “I have never wished to send an army into the Balkans, but only agents, supplies, and commandos to stimulate the intense guerrilla [sic] prevailing there . . . What I ask for is the capture of Rhodes and the other islands of the Dodecanese. The movement northward of our Middle East Air Forces and their establishments in these islands, and possibly on to the Turkish shore, which last might well be obtained, would force a diversion of the enemy far greater than required of us.”

The Americans regarded the Balkans much as medieval mapmakers saw the terra incognita beyond the boundaries of the known world—“Here Be Dragons.” The U.S. Army Planning Staff entertained a particular dread of the region, associating it with the lingering imperialism with which they believed British grand strategy was infected. Little good could come from venturing into this minefield. This was by no means unfair to Churchill, whose freewheeling strategic forays had on occasion to be restrained by calm interventions from the likes of General Brooke. Now acutely conscious of the ebbing away of British power and influence, Churchill was, in Brooke’s words, “inclined at times to put up strategic proposals which, in his heart, he knew were unsound, purely to spite the Americans . . . It was usually fairly easy to swing him back on the right line. There lay, however, in the back of his mind the desire to form a purely British theater where the laurels would be all ours.”

In the case of the Balkans, Churchill’s strategic opportunism had gotten the better of him, as well he should have known. When discussing Marshal Tito’s communism with Fitzroy Maclean, the prime minister’s representative to the Yugoslavian partisan leader, Churchill asked Maclean, “Are you going to live in Yugoslavia after the war? No? Neither am I. And that being so, the less you and I worry what sort of government they set up, the better. That is for them to decide.” As far as Eastern Europe was concerned, both Churchill and the British Foreign Office realized that the tide of war would place it within the Soviet sphere of influence at the end of the conflict. In October 1943, when peace feelers were extended to the Western Allies by King Michael of Romania, Britain’s foreign secretary, Anthony Eden, and the U.S. secretary of state, Cordell Hull, agreed that “the Soviet Union was entitled to decide any such questions concerning Romania and Hungary, and Finland as well—since only its forces were engaged in active warfare against these countries.” The exception to this rule was Greece, where the British had the kind of long-term interest that the American planners found so sinister and which was also an integral part of Britain’s current and postwar plans for the Eastern Mediterranean.

The Americans had long been wary of what they saw as devious British diplomatic skills, a sphere in which the latter were infinitely more experienced than their allies. General Wedemeyer, when reflecting on the outcome of Symbol, admitted, “We lost our shirts . . . we came, we listened and we were conquered.” At Trident the British had, it seemed, also outmaneuvered Eisenhower’s originally modest plans for an intervention in southern Italy, winning the argument for pushing on to Rome and beyond. Here the Americans should have set stricter limits on the Italian campaign, which, it could be argued, ultimately came to serve Germany’s purpose better than that of the Allies. Quadrant had provided Churchill with a final, fleeting opportunity to mount a spoiling operation against the opening of the Second Front. At Tehran, however, his bluff was called by Stalin. The Soviet leader dismissed several of Churchill’s pet obsessions—Turkey, Rhodes, Yugoslavia, and the capture of Rome—as unimportant from the Soviet point of view, and then asked the prime minister point-blank whether he believed in Overlord at all or was “only saying so to reassure the Soviet Union?” Churchill mustered a reply that mixed equivocation and bluster. Provided conditions** were met, he said, “it will be our stern duty to hurl across the Channel against the Germans every sinew of our strength.”

In the meetings at Tehran that were devoted purely to military strategy, short shrift was given to the British proposals. At the first, attended among others by Generals Marshall, Brooke, and Stalin’s envoy, Marshal Klimenti Voroshilov, an old revolutionary comrade and drinking companion of the Soviet leader, Brooke emphasized the overriding importance of active engagement with the Wehrmacht. This he planned to achieve by launching amphibious attacks up the Italian peninsula with landing craft assigned to the Mediterranean until such time as they were withdrawn to participate in Overlord. From the outset, Brooke stated that he was opposed to a landing in the South of France as ongoing operations in Italy left him little or no room for maneuver. Moreover, simple geography made it impossible for the landings in the north and south of France to be mutually supporting until the two expeditionary forces joined hands.

Marshall, on the other hand, chose to concentrate on the logistical challenges posed by Overlord and the complementary role envisaged for Anvil, which he suggested should be launched no more than two or three weeks before Overlord. He saw the continued emphasis on the Mediterranean as a factor that might delay Overlord, the buildup for which was well underway. Voroshilov, not the sharpest military tool in the box, then asked Brooke if the British considered Overlord to be of “the first importance.” Brooke parried with the standard British equivocation that Overlord was crucial but could only be launched in the right conditions when victory was assured. This prompted Voroshilov to observe that, from the Soviet point of view, all operations in the Mediterranean were by their very nature auxiliary. Brooke agreed but added that unless these operations were undertaken, Overlord would fail.

At the conference’s second plenary session, on November 29, 1943, Stalin lobbed a large rock into the pool of Allied consensus by asking who was to be the commander of Overlord. Churchill and Roosevelt had no answer. Stalin then observed, “Then nothing will come out of these operations,” before going on to give his allies a lecture about the importance of having a commander, without whom Overlord would be little more than a map exercise. Roosevelt had originally considered Marshall for the job, but the general’s continued presence in Washington was deemed indispensable, and so within days the post of supreme commander of the Allied Forces for Overlord was filled by Marshall’s protégé, Eisenhower.

The Tehran conference concluded with agreement among the “Big Three”—Roosevelt, Stalin, and Churchill—that Operation Overlord was to be launched in May 1944 in conjunction with Anvil, the invasion of southern France, the latter a left-handed blow in the Mediterranean. These operations were to be aided by a major offensive launched at the same time on the Eastern Front (this was eventually to be Operation “Bagration,” which opened on June 22, 1944). At this point the only question mark hanging over Anvil was the availability of landing craft in the Mediterranean theater, a theme to which the prime minister was to return with some vigor in the spring of 1944.

The other cloud on the Allied horizon was that, in spite of his fine words about “stern duty,” Churchill’s gaze was still being tugged toward the Balkans by an alternative proposal, advanced by Roosevelt at Tehran, of a right-handed blow, delivered from Italy in the Adriatic on the Istrian peninsula toward the Ljubljana Gap, in Yugoslavia, and on to Vienna. Churchill was unperturbed by the contradictions inherent in this strategy, a revival of the peripheralism that had been forced upon the British from 1940 and which flew in the face of the American high command’s conviction that northwest Europe was the crucial place to confront and destroy the German enemy. But, as Churchill airily concluded, “All this lay five or six months ahead. There would be plenty of time to make a final choice as the general war shaped itself, if only the life of our armies in Italy was not paralyzed by depriving them of their modest requirements in landing craft.” To the British prime minister all seemed well: “Surveying the whole military scene, as we separated in an atmosphere of friendship and unity of immediate purpose, I was personally well content.” In this untroubled vision of the future he was joined by the British Chiefs of Staff, who viewed the South of France and Balkan thrusts as equally viable, the latter seen as merely an extension of the campaign in Italy. What had conveniently been ignored by Churchill was the impossibility of the Allies fighting simultaneously on three separate fronts.

Churchill’s satisfaction at the conclusion of Eureka nevertheless masked a shifting in the tectonic plates that underpinned the Anglo-American alliance. For the first twelve months after they joined the war the Americans had, as a rule, deferred to their British allies, relied on their strategic and tactical advice, and raised no major objections to Churchill’s peripheralist strategy. By 1943, however, they commanded the largest war economy, truly “the arsenal of democracy,” and the military makeup of the Allied forces was becoming more decidedly American. In contrast, from 1943 British strength was in decline as its industrial and manpower resources had started to ebb away. This became clearer at Cairo and Tehran, and the inevitable tensions that arose between the two allies were to play a complicating role in the evolution of the plan to invade southern France.††

The Tehran conference having concluded, the Anglo-American Sextant conference was resumed in Cairo on December 3. Much discussion revolved around the resources available for Overlord and Anvil. Admiral Cunningham, the Royal Navy’s chief of staff, pointed out that there were only enough naval vessels in the Mediterranean to support two major amphibious operations, Overlord and Anvil, not the three that Churchill, still eyeing the eastern Mediterranean, had in mind. Cunningham suggested that the gap might be filled by withdrawing vessels from the Bay of Bengal where they were assembling for Operation “Buccaneer,” the projected invasion of the Andaman Islands, off the coast of Burma.


[image: Images]

This proposal was blocked by Roosevelt, who insisted that something must be done to help Chiang Kai-shek’s Nationalist China. Field Marshal Sir John Dill, the head of the British Joint Services Mission in Washington,‡‡ was of the opinion that it was not possible to simultaneously launch Overlord and Anvil at optimum strength as any attempt to do so might adversely affect the strategic balance, with unforeseen political consequences. Roosevelt hauled the debate back on track with his summary. Its principal point was that no action should be taken to hinder Overlord and Anvil, which would remain the two major operations in the European Theater carried forward by the Western Allies and which would be launched during May 1944. The Combined Chiefs were to send Eisenhower a report compiled by their planners on the landings in the South of France. Eisenhower undertook to prepare an outline for the operation, based on the ominous assumption that it would be launched when Allied forces in Italy had reached the Pisa-Rimini line.


* The CCS consisted of army, navy, and air force chiefs of the United States and the United Kingdom meeting regularly in Washington and exercising control over the US/UK war efforts around the world. In the Pacific theater, where the U.S. predominated, the final decisions lay in the hands of the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS). In the European theater, the war was prosecuted as a matter of Anglo-American strategy and debated accordingly.




† In its original form, code-named Operation “Wet Bob,” the peninsula was to have been held to the spring of 1943 before a breakout was attempted.




‡ From an unpublished poem about Marshall written by a fellow U.S. Army officer, Thomas Hawkins Johnson.




§ Wedemeyer, a deeply conservative officer, had been the driving force behind the Victory Program, the mobilization of manpower in the US armed forces, and was an advocate of the “Germany First” doctrine.




¶ Jodl was head of the Operations Section of OKW (Oberkommando der Wehrmacht) nominally Germany’s supreme joint services command. Fatally, OKW had no control over the German Army high command in the Soviet Union, Oberkommando das Heeres (OKH). Nor did it control the Navy (Kriegsmarine) or Air Force (Luftwaffe) high commands, OKM and OKL, an example of Hitler’s method of divide and rule.




# Another one of Hitler’s mistakes. Command in Italy was divided between Rommel and Field Marshal Albert Kesselring, responsible for German forces in the south. Hitler refused to combine the two commands under Kesselring, until November 1943 when it was clear that a line south of Rome could be held. However, Kesselring’s freedom of action was still hampered by Hitler’s constant interference.




** The conditions included a reduction in the strength of the Luftwaffe’s fighter defenses, the presence in France and the Low Countries of no more than twelve mobile divisions, and the elimination of the possibility of the Germans transferring more than fifteen divisions from other fronts in the first sixty days of Overlord.




†† Churchill’s foot-dragging over Overlord and Anvil can in part be explained by the disastrous landings at Gallipoli in the Dardanelles in 1915, an amphibious operation championed by Churchill, then the First Lord of the Admiralty, which incurred heavy losses and achieved no discernible gain. It was failure at Gallipoli that prompted Churchill to leave politics and fight on the Western Front. At Gallipoli the Turks, as allies of the Central Powers, were the enemy, and this may also explain Churchill’s obsession with persuading Turkey to join the alliance against Germany in World War II.




‡‡ In April 1940 Dill had been appointed vice-chief of the Imperial General Staff, succeeding General Ironside as CIGS a month later. His cautious approach did not appeal to Churchill and he was replaced by General Brooke and dispatched to Washington in December 1941 as the head of the British Joint Services Commission, liaising with the CCS, where his tact and diplomacy greatly eased Anglo-American cooperation.








TWO


THE STRANDED WHALE

“I had hoped we were hurling a wildcat on the shore, but all we got was a stranded whale.”

—Winston Churchill on the Anzio landings

Winston Churchill deemed that the “soft underbelly” of the Axis crocodile was located in the South of France, Italy, and the Balkans. He may have been right in the first assertion but not in the other two. In particular, Italy’s topography lent itself well to defense, as Field Marshal Kesselring, one of the ablest fighting generals of World War II, keenly appreciated. The Italian peninsula has a central, mountainous spine, rising up to 10,000 feet in places, which throws numerous spurs east and west toward the Adriatic and the Mediterranean. Between these spurs rivers flow through deep valleys into the sea. Together, these formidable constituent parts of Italy’s topography offer a succession of defensible lines made all the more difficult to breach because the spine forces the north-south highways into eastern and western coastal strips, where the bridges that carry them are overlooked by natural strongpoints on the looming spurs above. Add to this the fact that in 1943–44 these lines were for the most part defended by German formations of the highest quality, transferred to the peninsula after the Italian surrender, and one can begin to appreciate the problems facing the Allies as they crawled up the leg of Italy.

The topographical challenges became evident at the Allied landings at Salerno (code-named “Avalanche”) on September 8 and 9, 1943. The wide and level coastal strip where U.S. Fifth Army and British 10th Corps came ashore was dominated on all sides by high ground, and its northward exit to the Allies’ Avalanche objective, Naples, was blocked by the massif of Mount Vesuvius. En route the invasion force had been informed of the Italian surrender and was expecting little or no resistance. Instead, they encountered fierce opposition from General Heinrich von Vietinghoff’s 10th Army, principally 16th Panzer Division and 29th Panzergrenadier Division. On September 12 the 16th Panzer Division threatened to split the US and British landing forces and break the bridgehead in half. The Americans were forced to contemplate re-embarking their assault divisions before halting the Germans by bringing down a colossal weight of firepower, which with air support drove the Panzergrenadiers back. By September 15, the crisis had passed. With General Sir Bernard Montgomery’s 8th Army approaching from its landings in Calabria, Kesselring granted Vietinghoff permission to conduct a fighting withdrawal toward the mountain line to his north, the Gustav Line. The next day advanced elements of 8th Army made contact with American forces in the bridgehead south of Salerno.

On the night of September 14, while the outcome of the landings still hung in the balance, the U.S. 3rd Division, commanded by Major General Lucian King Truscott Jr., was dispatched from Palermo to the Salerno bridgehead. Truscott made the journey aboard a British motor torpedo boat, and in his memoir, Command Missions, left a vivid account of the approach to the bridgehead: “Our first sight of Avalanche in the gathering dusk was a ring of fire that flamed and glowed and sparkled in the distance with occasional flares streaking through the heavens like great sky rockets, and occasional bursts of flame that mushroomed and fell in showers of fire. It was beautiful, although not a comforting, view.”1
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